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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
SOUTHERN DIVISION

VIRNA M. DANIELS,
Plaintiff,

Civil Action No. 11-cv-02938-AW

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF PRINCE
GEORGE’'S COUNTY gt al,
Defendants.
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MEMORANDUM OPINION
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On October 14, 2011, Plaintiff brought suibatst Defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 for alleged deprivations of her rightsler the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process
Clause and the Housing Choice Voucher Prog#in).S.C. § 1437f. A bench trial was held on
March 4 and March 7, 2013. The Court has cédlyefonsidered the parties’ exhibits, the
testimony of the withesses, the pretrial subroissiand post-trial briefs, and the oral arguments
of counsel. The following constitutes this Ctaifindings of fact ad conclusions of law
pursuant to Rule 52(a) of the Federal Rule€igfl Procedure. For the reasons articulated
below, the Court will enter judgment in favor@éfendants on Counts IV and V and in favor of
Plaintiff on Count VI. The Court will awdrPlaintiff $24.00 in damages on Count VI and $1.00
in nominal damages for Defenua’ liability on Count I.
. BACKGROUND

The Housing Choice Voucher Program (“HCVPi)so known as Section 8, is a federal
program created to help low-income families obtain affordable houSeg42 U.S.C. § 1437f.

Defendants Housing Authority of Prince Georgémunty (“HAPGC”) and Eric C. Brown, in his
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official capacity as Executive Director of H&Z, administer the program for Prince George’s
County. Plaintiff Virna Danielsa participant in the HCVP haownership program, alleged six
counts against Defendants in her Amended Comiplall of which were brought pursuant to 42
U.S.C. § 1983.SeeDoc. No. 24. In Count I, Plaintiff akged that Defendants deprived her of
her constitutional rights under the Due Processi§# of the Fourteenth Amendment by failing
to provide her with an informal hearingdballenge the alleged ung@yment of her housing
subsidy in 2010. Similarly, in Count Il, Plaiffitalleged that Defendastdeprived her of her
federal right under Section 8 and regulationplemented by the Department of Housing and
Urban Development (HUD) by failing to provide hveith an informal hearing to challenge the
alleged 2010 underpayment.

In Counts Ill, IV, V, and VI, Plaintiff alleggthat Defendants deprived her of her federal
right to a properly calculated housingosidy under Section 8 and implementing HUD
regulations. Specifically, Plaifitialleged that Defendants failéd timely process her monthly
payment for August 2010, which resulted in arpted subsidy that month (Count I11);
erroneously used her son’s 2009 income asss liar her anticipated household income for
2010, thereby reducing her monthly subsidy payments from August 2010 through December
2010 (Count IV); failed to timely remove her son from the household in December 2010, thereby
reducing her subsidy payment in December 20u(EV); and failed to properly credit her for
all her medical expenses, thereby redut¢iagmonthly subsidy payments from May 2011
through the preseérCount VI).

On August 24, 2012, Plaintiff filed a Motion for fial Summary Judgment as to liability
on Counts |, 1V, V, and VI. Doc. No. 28. &lCourt held a hearing on Plaintiff's Motion on

November 16, 2012. Doc. No. 33. With resped@oant I, it was not disputed that Plaintiff



requested an informal hearing to challengéebéants’ calculation dfier subsidy on August 16,
2010, and that her attorney reiterated that retjoie multiple occasions in the months that
followed. In their opposition brief, Defendants attempted to characterize August 12, 2010 and
December 21, 2010 meetings between Defendat$ intiff and her counsel as “informal
hearings.” However, during the November Bathng, counsel for Defendis presented nothing
convincing to challenge Plaiffts argument that informaldarings in accordance with the
HAPGC Administrative Plan wemgever held. Accordingly, ghCourt held that Defendants
were liable on Count I

In denying Daniels an inforah hearing, Defendants failed to comply with the due

process requirements Gbldberg v. Kelly397 U.S. 254, 26671 (1970),

applicable HUD regulationg,.g, 24 C.F.R. § 982.555, and corresponding

provisions of the governg Administrative PlanseeDoc. No. 30-1 at 16-14-16-

22. Accordingly, the Court finds that Defendants are liable under 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983 for violating Plaintiff's pycedural due process rights.

Doc. No. 34 at 2. The Court also dismi&ount Il without prejudice when counsel for
Plaintiff acknowledged that it was duplicative@dunt I, and denied Plaintiff's Motion with
respect to Counts IV, V, and VId. at 1-2. A bench trial wasiseduled to determine damages
on Count | and liability and damagen Counts Il IV, V, and VIld. at 3.

The bench trial was held on March 4 and Ntar¢c2013. At the close of Plaintiff's case,
Defendants moved for judgment on all Countéie Court entered judgment in favor of
Defendants on Count Il pursuantRule 52(c) of the Federal Ras of Civil Procedure, but
denied Defendants’ Motion with spect to the remaining Count$he Court made the following
findings of fact with respect t6ount IlI: (1) Plaintiff's realtor, Joan Sitng sent communications
to Defendants in June 2010 informing them thatclosing on Plairffis home was scheduled

for June 25, 2010; (2) The Housing Quality StaddgdHQS) inspection of Plaintiff's home was

not scheduled until after the closing; (3) The first HQS inspectvhich Plaintiff's home failed,



occurred on July 21, 2010; (4) A second Hi@spection was scheduled for August 4, 2010, at

which time Plaintiff's home pasdenspection; and (5) Plaintiff’subsidy payment was prorated
for the month of August 2010 on the grounds tieathome did not pass inspection until August
4, 2010.

Under HUD regulations, a prerequisite feceiving a subsidy under the Section 8
program is that the participant’'s home pass HQS inspection. 24 C.F.R. § 982.628(a)(4).
Accordingly, Defendants were not authorizsdfederal law to pay Daniels a subsidy until
August 4, 2010. Neither § 1437f nor the HUD regulations cited by Plaintiff provided her with a
right to have an inspection prito her closing date or a rigtd an immediate inspection.
Furthermore, the Court could not conclude thatpassage of two weeks between inspections
was due to Defendants’ misconduct or was otherwise unreasoradderdingly, Plaintiff failed
to show that she was deprived of ddeal right, and Count 11l was dismissed.

The following findings of fact and conclusiootlaw are made with respect to the
remaining claims in this case: liability addmages on Counts 1V, V, and VI, and damages on
Count I.

. FINDINGS OF FACT

By letter dated April 13, 2010, the Marylabg&partment of Housg and Community
Development informed Plaintiff Virna Danielsatirshe had pre-qualifigd purchase a home
under the Homeownership for IndividualglwDisabilities Program. The April 13
correspondence indicated that girequalification wadased on Daniels’s receipt of a Housing
Choice Voucher subsidy from Defendant HAPGC in an estimated amount of $1,433.92. On
May 7, 2010, Daniels signed a contract to purchase the property located at 13100 Glasgow Way,

Fort Washington, Prince GeorgeCounty. The contract waatified on May 10, 2010, and the



projected settlement date fibve property was June 25, 2010. Prior to the settlement date,
Carolyn Floyd, homeownershgpecialist for HAPGC, contacted Daniels to set up an
appointment to certify her parti@pon in the Section 8 Programagministered by Defendants in
Prince George’s County. The parties stipuldbed since certificatin, Floyd acted according to
HAPGC practice and policy in verifying Dars& income and expenses and calculating her
housing subsidy.

At all relevant times, Defendants were required to calculate Section 8 participants’
assistance payments in accordance with thestefrthe governing Administrative Plan adopted
by HAPGC. Chapter 6 of the Plan provided ploéicies and methods that HAPGC was required
to use to ensure that only eligible familregeived housing assistangelahat no family paid
more or less than its obligation under HUD regalss. That chapter spified the sources of
income to include and exclude in computanéamily’s annual income, how to subtract
deductions such as medical expenses teeaat adjusted income, and the methodology for
calculating the family’s monthly assistance/peent. Chapter 7 of the Plan governed
Defendants’ methodology for verification of tharticipating family’s information, including
income, household composition, and medical expenSeseral provisionsf the Plan quoted,
cited, or otherwise expressly relied upon thengeof administrative glations and guidance
documents promulgated by HUD. These andratilevant provisions of the Administrative
Plan will be discussed in substantial detathe Court’'s Conclusions of Law.

Daniels met with Floyd at HAPGC on Ju2®, 2010 for her certification appointment.
Daniels provided several documents relatintheoincome earned by her son, Dahvae Akers,
who was self-employed as a newspaper carAgers’s income was relevant to calculating

Daniels’s subsidy because he resided withmdther, and Section 8 participants’ subsidy



calculations are based on the income earnealllmgembers of the household. At the June 23
meeting, Daniels submitted Akers’s 2009 incdarereturn, which indicated that his gross
income for 2009 was $37,986 and his adjustedgimcome for 2009 was $20,365. Daniels also
provided an undated document from Akers’soairtant, Liberty Tax Service (“LTS”), which
projected Akers’s gross income for 2010 to#3®,592 and his net income for 2010 to be $9,492.
Floyd received other materials frddaniels at the June 23 menxgj including receipts and other
documents purportedly reflectifkers’s business expenses.

At the June 23 meeting, Floyd briefly rewied the documents provided by Daniels,
including the LTS projection,ral estimated that Daniels’samthly subsidy would be $1,306.50.
Floyd explained to Daniels that she needed amdititime to review the documents in greater
detail and that the figure was only an estenaDaniels signed her initials next to the
“ESTIMATE” heading of the HAP Calculatiordocument and next to the projected HAP
payment amount. Daniels and Akers both sigrtsents to the release of information to
HAPGC on June 23.

At some point in July 2010, Floyd closely examined the documents submitted by Daniels
and determined that her monthly subsidywd be $1,045. Floyd reliesh Akers’s 2009 tax
return to make this calculatiork-loyd declined to use the ISTprojection because she believed
the 2009 tax return was more reliable and thatseswas in accordance with the Administrative
Plan. Floyd also declined to use the otfi@ruments evidencing business expenses because
many were illegible and could nbeé verified. Floyd did not regaktadditional information from
Daniels to determine the sublgj did not contact the newspamempany that contracted with
Akers, and did not provide forms to Akdos the reporting of his business expenses.

Furthermore, Floyd did not rely on currentccimstances in projang Daniels’s household



income, and she did not document in Danielsisigpant file her reasns for departing from
current circumstances.

Daniels’s home passed HQS inspectiorAoigust 4, 2010, and shedsn receiving her
monthly assistance payment as of that.d@e August 12, 2010, HAPGC sent a letter to
Daniels informing her that her monthly atance payment would be $1,045. Her initial
payment for August 2010 was prorated at $9¥&aise her home did not pass HQS inspection
until August 4. Around this time, Daniels went to HAPGC to retrieve her first subsidy check.
Daniels was shocked and became extremely wgs®t discovering the amount of her monthly
assistance payment. Daniels met with Flapd Floyd’'s supervisor, Program Manager Mavis
Headley, to review the calculations. Flogad Headley explained the basis for the $1,045
amount, and Floyd reminded Daniels that the figuroided by HAPGC in June was merely an
estimate. Daniels remained \ali upset throughout the meeting.

In early September 2010, Daniels retaine@torney, Hong Park, to assist her with her
housing subsidy. Park reviewed Daniels’sutoentation and initially contacted HAPGC in
September to try to set up a meeting. Pdikss meeting with Floyd occurred on October 12,
2010, when they discussed the calculation of Daniels’s subsidy and why it was prorated in
August. He asked Floyd for a copy of themiidistrative Plan, whie she said she would
provide. Park also informed Floyd thatweuld be providing documémndetailing Akers’s
business income and expenses.

At some point in September 2010, Akers [finiels’s home in Prince George’s County
and moved in with his uncle in Washington, D.On or about October 1, 2010, Akers filled out
an “Official Mail Forwarding Change of Addre€sder” with the United States Postal Service

(USPS). Daniels subsequently informed Rhek her son had moved out of the home.



On November 17, 2010, Park went to HAP&@ had a brief meeting with Floyd.
Floyd informed Park that sheddnot have the copy of the Adnistrative Plan that he had
requested. Park, in turn, tdidoyd that Akers had left Danietsshousehold. Floyd explained to
Park that Daniels would have to inform R&C in writing as to the change in household
composition. On November 18, 2010, Park e-mdtegd to inform her in writing that Akers
no longer resided with Daniels and that he Wasg with his uncle in Washington, D.C. on a
permanent basis. He requested that Akareéome be removed from Daniels’s household
effective December 2010. Park also told Floyd;ah provide affidavits stating that [Akers]
resides with his uncle when | meet with you on Novemb®r’3Bloyd did not respond to Park’s
e-mail or otherwise inform him in Novembeatraffidavits would nobe sufficient.

As part of his November 18 e-mail to FloyrArk also asserted that Defendants had
miscalculated Daniels’s subsidy failing to properly account faher son’s business expenses.
Park attached a spreadsheet to explamtbthodology behind his own calculations. The
spreadsheet included a mileage ledger for Akershicle use, including a determination that
72.55% of the mileage was for business purpo3é® spreadsheet also included business
expenses for vehicle parts and service, 8¢\ membership, note payments, insurance,
payment for hired help, cell phone usage, andIggppPark estimatetthat Akers’s 2010 gross
business income would be $39,833.87, that20i10 net business income would be $16,418.74
based on business expenses, and that his 20itcoee after turning 18 would be $10,945.83.
Park also attached to his November 18 é-mkarge number ofeceipts which reflected
expenses for car payments, car service ang,pall phone bills, gas, food, and purchases at
various retail stores. Park notedhis spreadsheet that someha# receipts for food, supplies,

and gas were not used in his analysis. Pamkipose in providing the spadsheet was to help



Floyd and Defendants understand the supporticgmentation being submitted, to provide a
clear summary, to aid negotiations with Defamdaand to convince them to increase her
monthly subsidy payment. It is not dispdittowever, that Park’s methodology in singling out
Akers’s income after turning 18 was incorraoter the regulationsyd Administrative Plan.

Floyd subsequently reviewed the documents submitted by Park. She concluded that
several of the documents could not be veriisdusiness expenagsder the Administrative
Plan and that there were errors in Park’s catmra. Some of the receipts submitted were also
illegible and several were in Daniels’s name, Akérs’s. Defendants therefore continued to
rely on the 2009 tax return galculating Daniels’s subsidy.

Park had a meeting set up with Floyd on Naber 30, 2010 to discuss the documents he
submitted on November 18 as well as the gean Daniels’s household composition. Floyd
cancelled the meeting that morning, however, beeder supervisors were unavailable. The
same day, Park e-mailed Floyd and attached aftslrom Daniels, Akers, and Akers’s uncle
stating that Akers had left D&ls’s household and was residiwgh his uncle in Washington.

On December 3, 2010, Floyd sent a letter to Darstlting that HAPGC was unable to process
her request for a change in household commushiecause it required the following additional
information: “Legal proof of [Akers’s] new residee (ex: new picture id, lease, utility bill, bank
statement, and/or change of address caid)response to this leit, Park e-mailed Floyd on
December 15, 2010 and attached a copy of Akaksgshington, D.C. identification card and a
change-of-address confirmation letter from USPPark eventually met with Floyd and Headley
at HAPGC on December 21, 2010 to discusssgireadsheets submitted by Park. Floyd and

Headley told him that they would takesiproposed calculationsder advisement.



On January 6, 2011, HAPGC informed Dantélst Akers had been removed from her
household composition. The removal of Aké&nom Daniels’s household composition was
effective January 1, 2011, and resulted in are@se in Daniels’s monthly subsidy payment to
$1,554. Headley also informed Park by lettdedalanuary 10, 2011 that HAPGC fully assessed
the concerns he expressed at the Dece2e2010 meeting but remained confident that
Daniels was receiving all the bédie to which she was entitled. Headley’s January 10 letter
stated, “[tlhe calculations performed reflect ticewaate payment standard in effect at the time
[Daniels’s] subsidy began and also reflect thet Ipeojection of Akers’ annual income based on
the information presented at the time tralculations were performed.”

In the months that followed, Daniels and Defendants also disagreed as to the amount of
Daniels’s medical expenses, which are deducgkfsnses for the purpose of calculating
Section 8 participants’ adjustattome and monthly assistanceypeents. Daniels suffers from
a severe crossbite and malalignment of hergad temporomandibular joint. In April 2011,
Defendants sent Daniels a letter the annual recertification der subsidy. On April 27, 2011,
Daniels submitted documents to Floyd concerning medical treatment and related expenses.
These documents included: (1) an April 19, 20XiteShent of Account for dental work from Dr.
Cohen, which reflected $270 in payments by Daniels on March 3 and April 19, 2011, with a
balance of $100 due to Dr. Cohen; (2) amiA1®, 2011 Estimated Treatment Plan from Dr.
Cohen; and (3) Financial Optiodscuments from Drs. Burk and Flinn, also dated April 19,
2011. Defendants also acknowledged receivinghduthis time period a letter from Dr.
Nicholas Mehta dated May 4, 2011, which describadiels’s condition andtated that she was

currently undergoingental treatment.
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The Estimated Treatment Plan from Dr. Cohen estimated $366 in fees for proposed
dental work, but contained no indication that Daniels had agoethe proposed treatment or
had undertaken a financial obltga with respect to such trea¢nt. The Financial Options
documents detailed two dental anchodontic treatment plans totaling $5,382 and $6,327,
respectively, for an estimat@0—22 months of treatment. Ed€éimancial Option provided an
interest-free office plan, as wal a flexible payment planrttugh Care Credit for as low as
$125/month. As with the Estimated Treatmilan, the Financial Options documents gave no
indication that Daniels had agreedtreatment from Drs. Burknd Flinn or had undertaken any
financial obligations with respect to such treatment.

In computing Daniels’s medical expensgdier annual recertification, which was
effective August 2011, Floyd gave Daniels dréor $370 based on the statement from Dr.
Cohen ($270 in payments plus the $100 remainitanioa). Floyd did not ge credit to Daniels
based on the Estimated Treatment Plan fronCBhen or the Financial Options documents from
Drs. Burk and Flinn because the documents gavexplicit indication tat Daniels would be
responsible for ongoing expenses in the futukéhough Floyd had abbrization from Daniels
to contact medical providers to verify infaation, Floyd did not contact any of her medical
providers to discuss potential future treatmamd future expenses. Accordingly, effective
August 2011, Defendants were ctedj Daniels with $370 in totanedical expenses for the
purpose of calculating her housing subsidy.

Several weeks later, on October 10, 2011, Bariailed Floyd to request a recalculation
of Daniels’s subsidy based onrhreedical expenses. Park rejgeal that Daniels was spending
approximately $230/month for dental work. Trext day, Floyd responded to Park’s e-mail and

requested supporting documeraatbf her paid medical cast On October 19, 2011, Park
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submitted invoices from Dr. Cohen establishiingt Daniels had made payments totaling $445
between March 3 and September 7, 2011 (amounting to $55.63/month) and had a remaining
balance of $91 balance with Dr. Cohen. Floyd Aleady credited Daglis with $370 of the

$445 in paid expenses (a difference of $T8otive August 2011. Parklso informed Floyd

that Daniels would be receiving arigg treatment from Dr. Cohen.

Park explained in his October 19 e-madttbaniels paid for separate orthodontic
services through her Care Crechird. Park further noted th@are Credit cards are used
exclusively for healthcare servicesd attached a Care Creditdd$uide in support. The User
Guide also stated that Care Credit cardsatbel used for family members and pets. Park
provided an invoice from Care Credit shagithat Daniels had a balance of $6,523.43 which
required a minimum monthly paynt of $179, and a printout of Daniels’s Care Credit payment
history showing that she had met the minimmenthly payment since July 2011. The payment
history also showed that Daté had made Care Credit pagmis totaling $845 since May 2,
2011. Park’s e-mail informed Floyd that Delsiplanned to make the minimum monthly
payment going forward. Park’s October 19 e-mal$® attached the same documents that
Daniels had submitted on April 27, 2011. Park raetpekthat Defendants provide Daniels with
retroactive benefits to April 2011, when she first submitted the medical documentation in support
of her receitication.

Floyd reviewed the documents submitted by Park and adjusted Daniels’s income
effective November 2011 based Gare Credit payments of $84Bbefendants did not give any
credit to Daniels for the addunal $75 in past payments to.[Zohen, the $91 balance with Dr.
Cohen, or claimed ongoing payments to Care iCfedtreatment from Drs. Burk and Flinn.

Floyd also determined that retadave payments dating back Agpril 2011 were not warranted.
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Effective November 2011, Defendants werediting Daniels with $1,215 in total medical
expenses. This was the result of adding $84%aire Credit payments to the $370 in credit
Daniels had been receiving since August 201 kkpenses paid to Dr. Cohen. Daniels
continued to receive crigdor $1,215 in medical expenses through April 2012.

In January and Februa?@12, Park communicated to Floyd that he disagreed with
Defendants’ calculations of Daats’s medical expenses. Floydormed him that Defendants
had properly accounted for her medical experesed no additional modifications would be
made. On February 29, 2012, Daniels requestedfarmal hearing with HAPGC to contest
Defendants’ calculation of her mheal expenses. Defendants sidlled the hearing for April 3,
2012.

In preparation for the informal hearirigark e-mailed counsel for Defendants on March
30 and April 2, 2012 and attached updated medical documentation for Daniels. The
documentation included additional invoicesrr Dr. Cohen and Care Credit payment
information. The informal hearing was héigril 3, 2012. Park presented charts explaining
what he believed demonstrated the proper catlicuri of Daniels’s medical deductions since May
2011. Following the hearing, Park submitted revised charts to counsel for Defendants, as well as
additional documentation showimpniels’s Care Credit expenses.

On April 16, 2012, Defendants issued their diexi in response to the April 3 informal
hearing. Defendants affirmed their determinadithat were made effective August 2011 (which
accounted for $370 in expenses with Dr. Cohen) and November 2011 (which accounted for the
additional $845 in Care Credit expenseBjfective May 1, 2012, and based on the
documentation submitted by Park in late Maacld early April 2012, Defendants concluded that

Daniels was entitled to creddr an additional $1,160 based on additional payments to Dr.
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Cohen and Care Credit expenses, whicupht her total medicaxpenses to $2,375.
Defendants accounted for—as part of this $1,160-$#%ein payments to Dr. Cohen dated June
9 and September 7, 2011, documents Park hahalligsubmitted in October 2011. Defendants
also accounted for $100 in payments to ©ohen made on March 12 and April 2, 2012.
Defendants refused to process retroactivesthients for Daniels, however, finding that the
documentation of $1,160 in additional paid exges was not available to Defendants until
March 30, April 2, and April 3, 2012.

As a result of Defendants’ alleged misedations of her housing subsidy, Daniels
testified that she suffered stress, sleeplesdsjigeadaches, and general mental anguish. She
suffered anxiety as a result of not having sufficfends to provide for her family and because
she was forced to reach out to family memberselp ends meet. She also suffered anxiety
because Defendants’ actions caused strain ofahely members and family relationships.

1. CONCLUSIONSOF LAW

Plaintiff claims that Defendants are lialplersuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violating her
federal rights under the Fourteenth Amendnaatt the Homeownership Option of the Housing
Choice Voucher Program. On Count |, theu@ has already concluded that Defendants
deprived Plaintiff of her procedural due prsseights by failing to afford her an informal
hearing to challenge the calcutatiof her monthly assistance payment. The remaining issue on
Count | is whether Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory damages. In Counts IV, V, and VI,
Plaintiff claims Defendants viated her federal right to aastitorily determined monthly
assistance payment pursuant to 42 U.8.C4371(y), implementing HUD regulations, and
provisions of the governing Administrative RlaThe Court’s analysisill begin with an

assessment of Defendants’ liability on Counts 1V, V, and VI.
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A. Claims based upon allegeahations of 42 U.S.C. § 14371(y)

1. Enforcement of the Homeownership Option under § 1983

“To state a claim under § 1983, a plaintiff mabége the violation of a right secured by
the Constitution and laws of thénited States, and must shovatlthe alleged deprivation was
committed by a person acting under color of state laWeést v. Atkins487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988).
Pursuant to § 1983, private indivals may bring lawsuits to enfwe rights created by federal
statutes in addition to those arising under the Constitutitaine v. Thiboutqt448 U.S. 1, 4-5
(1980).

As the Court previously determined, Danieés a federal right to a properly calculated
housing subsidy under 42 U.S.C. § 1437f@d her causes of action are properly brought
pursuant to 8 1983. Doc. No. 18 (citidgight v. Roanoke Redev. & Hous. Au#tv9 U.S. 418
(1987);Johnson v. Hous. Auth. of Jefferson Par#2 F.3d 356 (5th Cir. 2006)). Defendants
admitted in their Answer to the Amended Comgidivat Plaintiff's causes of action are properly
brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Doc. NoJ#629, 32, 38 (admitting wittespect to Counts
IV, V, and VI that Plaintiff had a right tproperly calculatedubsidy under § 1437f, HUD
regulations, and the Administrative Plan).

TheWright andJohnsorcourts held that public housj tenants and Section 8 tenants,
respectively, could bring gpursuant to § 1983 to challenge local housing authorities’
calculations of their ltty allowances under the Housimget and implementing regulations.
However, Plaintiff's claim in tis case—that she is entitleddagroperly calculated subsidy
under the Homeownership Option of the HagsChoice Voucher Program, specifically,

8§ 1437f(y)—presents a matter of first impressionereéhs no dispute in thisase that Plaintiff

may enforce this federal right pursuant to 8 1988,a thorough analysis of the Homeownership
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Option provision, implementing regulatis, and the courts’ decisionsWright andJohnson
will help define the contours of Plaintiff's assattfederal right and aid the Court’s analysis of
her claims.

In 1974, Congress amended the Housing Ad93d7 by establishing the Housing Choice
Voucher Program (Section 8) “for the purpa$aiding lower-income families in obtaining a
decent place to live and of promoting econmatly mixed housing.” Housing and Community
Development Act of 1974, Pub. L. No. 93-388,lti 8 8, 88 Stat. 833. In 1992, Congress
amended Section 8 by establishing the Homeovanz3ption, which provides that a family
receiving tenant-based assistarunder the Section 8 programynadso receive assistance for
occupancy of a dwelling owned by one orrmmmembers of the family. Housing and
Community Development Act of 1992, Pub.Nlo. 102-550, tit. I, § 185, 106 Stat. 3672
(codified as amended 42 U.S.C. § 143)f(yCongress subsequently amended the
Homeownership Option of Section 8 in the QyaHousing and Work Responsibility Act of
1998. Pub. L. No. 105-276, tit. V, 8 555, 112 Stat. 2461. The following provision dictates the
amount of assistance received by participam Section 8's Hmeownership Option:

(A) Monthly expenses not exceeding payment standard

If the monthly homeownership expenses, as determined in accordance with

requirements established by the Secretary, do not exceed the payment standard,

the monthly assistance payment shall be the amount by which the homeownership
expenses exceed the highest of the following amounts, rounded to the nearest
dollar:

(i) 30 percent of the monthly adjied income of the family.

(ii) 10 percent of the monthly income of the family.

(iii) If the family is receiving paymes for welfare assistance from a

public agency, and a portion of thqssyments, adjusted in accordance
with the actual housing costs of ttamnily, is specifically designated by
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that agency to meet the housing sasftthe family, the portion of those
payments that is so designated.

(B) Monthly expenses exceed payment standard
If the monthly homeownership expenses, as determined in accordance with
requirements established by the Secretary, exceed the payment standard, the
monthly assistance payment shall beaheunt by which the applicable payment
standard exceeds the highest of the ansuntler clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of
subparagraph (A).
42 U.S.C. § 14371(y)(2).
The relevant point of the statute for the pugsosf this case is that Section 8 requires
housing subsidies to be calculated based upon jhsted income of the participating family.
The term “income” used for the calculationtbé monthly assistance payment means income
from all sources of each member of the household, but excludes “any amounts not actually
received by the family.ld. § 1437a(b)(4). The term “adjusted income” means, “with respect to
a family, the amount (as determined by the pufiasing agency) of the income of the members
of the family residing in a dwelling unifollowing certain income exclusionsd. § 1437a(b)(5).
For example, the public housing agency (“PHA"jaguired to exclude from a family’s annual
income the portion of medical expenses exceeding 3% of the annual family inicbme.
§ 1437a(b)(5)(A)(ii)). HUD reguladns require each PHA to adopivatten administrative plan
that establishes local policies for administration of the Program on matters for which the PHA
has discretion. 24 C.F.R. 8 982.54(a). The Rhlft administer the Program in accordance
with the adopted administrative platd. § 982.54(c).
In Wright, plaintiffs were tenant® low-income housing projects owned by the defendant
public housing agency. 479 U.S. at 419. Timamés sued the PHA under § 1983 for allegedly

overcharging them for their utikgs and thereby violating the si#dry rent ceiling that limited

their rent to 30 percent ofelr adjusted monthly incomdd. at 420-21. The statutory language
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at issue inWVrightwas the Brooke Amendment, which statieat a low-income family “shall pay
as rent . .. 30 per centum of thenfy’s monthly adjusted income.id. at 420 n.2 (quoting 42
U.S.C. § 1437a(a)(1)(A)). The Court found timtmplementing the statute, HUD “consistently
considered ‘rent’ to include a reasonable amdointhe use of utilities, which is defined by
regulation as that amount eqt@alor less than an amount determined by the PHA to be a
reasonable part of the rentigpy low-income tenants.1d. at 420 (citing HUD regulations in
effect at the time of filing).

The Court held that “nothing in the HongiAct or the Brooke Amendment evidences
that Congress intended to praaé petitioners’ 8 1983 claim.ld. at 429. Of particular
relevance to the instant case, the Couwnmghtrejected respondent’'sgument that the Brooke
Amendment and HUD regulations did not give tenangpecific or definakel right to utilities,
that is, an enforceable right under § 1983:

The Brooke Amendment could not be cleaes further amended in 1981, tenants

could be charged as rent no more andess than 30 perceof their income.

This was a mandatory limitation focusing tke individual family and its income.

The intent to benefit tenants is undegabNor is there any question that HUD

interim regulations, in effect when thssit began, exprely required that a

“reasonable” amount for utilities be inclutia rent that a PHA was allowed to

charge, an interpretation to which HUias adhered both before and after the

adoption of the Brooke Amendment.

Id. at 430. The Court noted that i$tclear to us that the regulais gave low-income tenants an
enforceable right to a reasonabitédity allowance and that thegalations were fully authorized
by the statute.”ld. at 420 n.3. It further concluded thihé benefits Congresstended to confer
on tenants were “sufficiently specific andid@e” such that they were not “beyond the
competence of the judiciary to enforced. at 432.

The Supreme Court’s approach to § 1983 ex@ment actions hdseen increasingly

restrictive in recent yearslohnson442 F.3d at 360. Howevalright remains good law after
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Gonzaga University v. Do which the Supreme Court hdftht the nondisclosure provisions
of the Family Educational Rights and Privast (FERPA) did not create a personally
enforceable right under § 1983. 536 U.S. 273 (2002¥%0dmzagathe Court noted that since its
decision inPennhurst State School and Hospital v. Halderdd&ii U.S. 1 (1981), it had only
twice found spending legislation ¢gve rise to enforceable rights. 536 U.S. at 280. One such
case wa¥Vright, which was decided “on the ground tkia¢ provision unambiguously conferred
a mandatory benefit focusing on timelividual family and its income.ld. (quotingWright, 479
U.S. at 430) (internal quotations omitted). The Cou@Gamzagaheld that “the key to [the
Court’s] inquiry [inWright] was that Congress spoke in terthat ‘could not be clearer’ and
conferred entitlements ‘sufficientpecific and definite to qliy as enforceable rights under
Pennhurst” 1d. (QuotingWright, 479 U.S. at 432).

In 2006, the Fifth Circuit, followin§VrightandGonzagaheld that Section 8 participants
could bring suit under § 1983 toailenge the calculation of uty allowances by public housing
agencies.Johnson442 F.3d at 357-58. The relevant statute at issilghinsorprovided that
the amount of the participant’s housing assistanas calculated ad# amount by which the
rent (including the amount allowed for tenaatieputilities) exceeds . . . 30 percent of the

monthly adjusted income of the familylt. at 358 (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(0)(2)(A)()).

! The complete text of §§ 1437f(0)(2)(A)—(B) provides:
(2) Amount of monthly assistance payment
Subject to the requirement under section 1437a(a)@)iofitle (relating to minimum rental amount), the
monthly assistance payment for a family receivingséasce under this subsection shall be determined as
follows:
(A) Tenant-based assistance; rent not exceeding payment standard
For a family receiving tenant-based assistandbgifent for the familgincluding the amount

allowed for tenant-paid utilities) does not exctieel applicable payment standard established
under paragraph (1), the monthly assistance payment for the family shall be equal to the amount
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The “amount allowed for tenant-piitilities” was determined by the PHA, which was directed
by HUD regulations to base the utility allowan@a‘the typical cost of utilities and services
paid by energy-conservative households that ocbopging of similar size and type in the same
locality . . . us[ing] normal patterns of consurop for the community as a whole and current
utility rates.” 1d. (quoting 24 C.F.R. § 982.517(b)(1)).

The Johnsorcourt concluded that the tenants abmiaintain a suit under 8§ 1983 because
the tenant-based Section 8 proersiwvas “virtually identical” to the project-based provision at
issue inWright Id. at 360. The court noted that thenbét provided by thetatutory language
of the voucher program was “undeniably direlt$. object is the ‘monthly assistance payment for
a family,” a tangible, government-fundednledit focused directly on the family.ld. at 363. It
also noted that the statutorysimfor private enforcement wasatger in the context of Section
8 claims than it was iVright Whereas § 1437a(a) made no explicit mention of the utility
allowance, and provided only for “rent"—whietas defined by HUD redations—the Section
8 language “unmistakably provides—in the text of the act itself—for an amount to be allowed

for tenant paid utilities.”ld. The court noted that “[a]lthoughéttalculation and maintenance of

by which the rent (including the amount allowfed tenant-paid utilitiesgxceeds the greatest of
the following amounts, rounded to the nearest dollar:

() 30 percent of the monthly adjusted income of the family.
(i) 10 percent of the monthly income of the family.

(iii) If the family is receiving payments for \f&re assistance from a public agency and a
part of those payments, adjusted in adaace with the actual housing costs of the
family, is specifically designated by that aggno meet the housing costs of the family,
the portion of those payments that is so designated.

(B) Tenant-based assistance; rent exceeding payment standard

For a family receiving tenant-based assistandbgifent for the familyincluding the amount

allowed for tenant-paid utilitie®xceeds the applicable payrhetandard established under

paragraph (1), the monthly assistance payment for the family shall be equal to the amount by
which the applicable payment standard exceeds the greatest of amounts under clauses (i), (ii), and
(iii) of subparagraph (A).
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the utility allowance schedule may not be an exact science, courtsa@relypable of at least
reviewing the actions taken by pubkiousing authorities to ensufet they have acted within
their discretion.”Id. at 364.

The Court is persuaded byetFifth Circuit’s reasoning idohnsorand holds that the
same result is dictated withsggect to Section 8's Homeownensi®ption. The language of the
Homeownership Option, 8§ 1437f(y)(2), is nearlgntical to the statutgrlanguage at issue in
Johnson§ 1437f(0)(2). The direct and mandattagguage of the Homeownership Option
creates a tangible, specific, and definite biéna$ it provides that the monthly assistance
payment Shall be the amount by which the homeownership expenses exceed . . . 30 percent of
the monthly adjusted income of the family2 U.S.C. § 1437f(y)(2)(A)(i) (emphasis added).
Although calculating the subsidy is no eassktacourts are capable of reviewing housing
authorities’ actions to ensureatithey acted properly and withtheir discretion. Accordingly,
Plaintiff’'s claims under Counts IV, V, and are properly brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Plaintiff also claims in Counts IV, V, and that Defendants violated HUD regulations
and provisions of the Administrative Plasiogpted by HAPGC. The Court is mindful that
administrative regulations “cannot create an exgable 8 1983 interest not already implicit in
the enforcing statute.Smith v. Kirk 821 F.2d 980, 984 (4th Cir. 1988ge alsdritter v. Cecll
Cnty. Office of Hous. and Comm. D33 F.3d 323, 327 n.3 (4th Cir. 1994) (cit\Wgight, 479
U.S. at 437-38 (O’Connor, J., dissenting)) (“Rigbteated by regulation alone, if rights can be
so created, probably cannot form the basis for a § 1983 actiis§)mmee River Valley
Sportsman Ass’n v. City of Lakelar&b0 F.3d 1324, 1327 (11th Cir. 2001) (holding that
regulation which imposed new and distinct obligatinasfound in the statatitself was too far

removed from congressional intent to constiaufederal right enforceable under 8 1983). To
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the extent Plaintiff's claims are based on psais in HUD regulationsr the Administrative
Plan that are not implicit in the rights-cre@tilanguage of 8§ 1437f(ylplaintiff cannot pursue
relief under § 1983. Accordingly, Deels will not be entitled tenforce those regulations or
provisions that are not directlied to the right she assertstins case—a properly calculated
housing subsidy.

However, where HUD regulations or Adminidiva Plan provisions define or flesh out
the context of the right found in the statuseif, Plaintiff’'s § 1983 claims may be based on
violations of such regulations and provisiond.; see also Wright479 U.S. at 420 n.3, 430;
Baldwin v. Hous. Auth. of the City of Camd2@8 F. Supp. 2d 365, 380-86 (D.N.J. 2003)
(holding that plaintiff successfullstated a due process claimes housing authority denied her
Section 8 benefits because she was not credhyowhere creditworthirgs was not a criterion
for denial in the governing Admisiirative Plan). Accordingly, éhCourt holds that Daniels has
a right to enforce those provis®nof the HUD regulations and Adnistrative Plan that define
the housing authority’s obligations and haveraaiimpact on the caldation of her monthly
assistance payments. With these principles idirthe Court will analyze the extent to which it
must defer to Defendants’ administaatiof the Homeownehgp Option statute.

2. Deference afforded to Defendants’ actions

“The civil rights cause of action againsstate agency implementing a federal program
compels federal courts to uphold the letter ofefal law while allowingagencies the discretion
to perform their function of reasonglddministering the federal programClark v. Alexander
85 F.3d 146, 150 (4th Cir. 1996). The Fourth Circu#t held that it is apppriate for courts to
show some deference to a local housing aittfi®interpretation of regulations under the

Section 8 programRitter, 33 F.3d at 327-28 (citations omitted)he court has established a
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two-step analysis for reviewing state agendgnpretation of federal laws: “First, the court
should determine whether the state agencymaianconsistent ith the federal housing
provisions. . . . If there is niaconsistency, the court should afford the state agency’s action
reasonable deference, meaning that the action should be upheld unless it is found to be arbitrary
or capricious.”Clark, 85 F.3d at 152 (citations omitted). €@t is established that an agency’s
determination is not inconsistent with the rel@vstatute, “a court mayot substitute its own
interpretation for the agency’s if tla@ency’s interpretation is reasonabl®itter, 33 F.3d at

328 (citingChevron USA v. Natural Res. Def. CoundB7 U.S. 837, 844 (1984)). “[T]he fact
that an interpretation is not in the form of amulgated rule will not prevent that interpretation
from being afforded deference by courts if itansistent with the teral provisions and is
reasonable.”Clark, 85 F.3d at 152.

As discussed in the Findings of Fact, Defants held an informal hearing on Daniels’s
challenge to the calculation ofhmedical expenses. The Fou@hcuit indicated that deference
is due to the factfinding of adal housing authority where theeay holds a hearing that is
“clearly judicial in nature irthat it entails the presentation of evidence and a decision based
thereon under specifiegal standards.d. at 151. Informal heargs to address a Section 8
participant’s challenge to tlealculation of his or hemubsidy are governed by 24 C.F.R.

§ 982.555. Pursuant to that regulation, “[tfle@son who conducts the hearing must issue a
written decision, stating briefly ¢hreasons for the decision. Factual determinations relating to
the individual circumstances of the familyaiibe based on a preponderance of the evidence
presented at the hearingld. § 982.555(e)(6). The level of féeence shown to the factfinding

of an informal hearing officer “is n@bsolute but it is significant.Clark, 85 F.3d at 151. “[T]o
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insure compliance with federal law, the reviegvcourt must be safied that the hearing
officer’s conclusions are suppadtéy substantial evidenceld. at 152.
3. Analysis
Each of the Counts remaining in Plaffisi Amended Complaint requires a detailed
analysis of Defendants’ actions in light ofrfp@ent HUD regulations and relevant provisions of
the governing Administrative Plan. The Cowitl address Counts IV, V, and VI in turn.

a. Count IV: Use of Adrs’s 2009 Income Tax Return

In Count IV, Daniels claims that Defendantse of Akers’s 2009 gome tax return in
calculating her monthly assistance paymerasfAugust through December 2010 deprived her
of her federal right to a propealculated subsidy. In deteimmg whether Defendants’ decision
to use the tax return is to be afforded defees the Court must fir@xamine whether it was
inconsistent with § 1437f(y), implementing HUBgulations, or the Administrative Plan.
Second, if there was no inconsistency, the housirigority’s action must be upheld unless it
was arbitrary or capriciousSee Clark85 F.3d at 152.

In calculating Daniels’s annuhousehold income for the purpose of determining her
monthly assistance payment, Sect6-1.C. of the Administratie Plan, following 24 C.F.R.

§ 5.609(a)(2), required HAPGC tount all income “anticipated to be received from a source
outside the family during the 12-month matifollowing admission or annual reexamination
effective date.” Pl.’s Ex. 34. In her testimonytrél, Floyd acknowledged that pursuant to the
Administrative Plan, a participéia current circumstances were “generally” used to determine
anticipated income for the coming 12 months. Hamvethe Plan explicitly authorized the use of
other than current circumstandesanticipate income when it was not feasible to anticipate

income over a 12-month period, or the housing aitthbelieved that past income was the best
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available indicator of future incoméd. Furthermore, the Plangarided that “[w]hen the PHA
cannot readily anticipate income based upon ctigiecumstances . . . , the PHA will review and
analyze historical data for patterof employment, paid benefits, and receipt of other income and
use the results of this analysisestablish annual incomeltl. As a preliminary matter, there
can be little question that Plaifih has a right to enforce thesegulations and Plan provisions
given that they are directly tied to her atse federal right—a jperly calculated monthly
assistance payment. The Court conclubdegever, that Defendants’ use of Akers’s 2009
income tax return was not inconsistent with the terms of the Administrative Plan or HUD
regulations, and that Defendants’ actiovexe not arbitrar or capricious.

In assessing Daniels’s hotsdd income, Floyd reasonably bmled that the tax return
was the best and most reliable indicator of future incofeeDefs.” Ex. 9. The only
information Daniels and her attorney providedttavidenced her current circumstances was an
undated projection of Akers’s 2010 income frdme family’s accountant, a multitude of
purported business expense receiptany of which were illegibler in Daniels’s name, and
spreadsheets and proposed calculations that relied upon the submitted r&esiptss Exs. 8,
17-20. Given this background, and given that Fkiyelw Akers continued to be employed as a
newspaper carrier, the same job he held in 200&s reasonable for Floyd to determine that
Akers’s 2009 income was, consistavith Section 6-1.C. of the Adinistrative Plan, the best and
most reliable indicator of his 2010 income.

This conclusion is buttressed by referencthiAdministrativePlan’s verification
hierarchy, which prioritized certain forms of famityformation over others. Section 7-1.B. of
the Plan provided that “[ijn general HUD requirthe PHA to use the most reliable form of

verification that is available... .” Pl.’s Ex. 37. According to both the Plan and the HUD
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Verification GuidanceReview of documents” was pridgized over “self-certification” or
“Tenant Declaration,” which was tme used only as a last resad.; Defs.” Ex. 42 at 7-37—7-38.
Under the HUD Verification Guidance on the verification of self-employment income, which
was incorporated into Chapter 7thé Administrative Plan, “[tjhe PH#/ay accept any
documents (i.etax returns, invoices and letters from custens) provided by the tenant to
verify self-employment income.Id. at 7-38 (emphasis added). Witspect to self-certification
or tenant declaration, a lower form of ¥exation, the Guidance praded that “[tlhe PHAmMay
accept a notarized statements or affidavit frontéhant that declares the family’s total annual
income from self-employment.Id. (emphasis added). Plaintiffsists that Defendants were
required to accept self-certifitan regarding heran’s self-employmenthcome. However,
given that Floyd had a higher level of yeation available—th@009 tax return—it was
reasonable for her to conclude, particularljight of the permissive language in the HUD
Verification Guidance, that reliance on the tatxire was appropriate artkdat self-certification
was unnecessary.

Defendants’ conclusion that the 2009 tax retwas the most reliable form of verification
available finds additional support in the Ptamandate that “[a]Jny documents used for
verification must be originghot photocopies) and generathyust be dated within 60 calendar
days of the date they are provided to the PHRL’s Ex. 37, § 7-1.B. (emphasis added). The
LTS projection for Akers’s 2010 income was uteth Therefore, Floyd properly determined
that it did not meet the requirements for “Dotent Review” under the Plan, and could only be
considered a form of self-certftion. Section 7-1.B. furtherovided that any documents used
for verification ‘must not be damaged, altered or in any wisgible.” 1d. (emphasis added).

Floyd reasonably declined to redy the business expense receipts submitted by Daniels and her
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attorney in large part becausenyaf them were illegible. Mvas also reasonable for Floyd to
conclude that some of Akers’s purported busregense receipts waret reliable given that

they were in Daniels’s name or were othisewnot clearly related to Akers’s business.
Furthermore, it was reasonable for Defendantiseegard the spreadsheand calculations
submitted by Daniels’s attorney. Park’s calculations directly relied on the receipts, which were
of questionable quality and validity, and Paxen admitted at trial that his methodology and
calculations with respect to Akers’s buseencome and expenses were faulty.

Plaintiff argues that Defendants violated the terms of Section 6-1.C. by failing to
document a clear rationale in Dalsi's file for departing from avent circumstances and relying
on the previous year’s tax return. Plaintift@rect that Defendantsddnot comply with their
Administrative Plan in this gard. However, the Court holtsat Plaintiff does not have a
federal right to enforce this provision of therAuhistrative Plan, to the extent Plaintiff claims
such a right. Plaintiff is asgang in Count IV that Defendantieprived her of her federal right
to a properly calculated subsidyhe housing authority’s obligatis with respect to record-
keeping of such decisions is a distinct oailign and not implicit from the rights-creating
language of § 1437f(y). The fact that Defenddatled to document a reason for departing from
current circumstances does not implicate PlaintédEserted federal right. Furthermore, there is
no evidence that Defendants’ noncompliance imitistance impactetthe calculation of
Daniels’s subsidy.

Plaintiff also contends in@unt IV (as well as Count Vthat Defendants violated her
rights by failing to follow proper verificatioproceduregequired by HUD regulations and the
Administrative Plan. In partidar, Plaintiff alleges that iseveral circumstances Defendants

refused to accept self-¢iication from Plaintiff, and on dter occasions failed to seek third-
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party verification, which would have confirmedormation submitted by the family. The Court
concludes, and Defendants havé disputed, that Plaintiff haselright to enforce the relevant
verification provisions to the extethat they directly impactettie calculation of her monthly
assistance payment. The Homeownershipddp& 14371(y), createsfederal right to a
properly calculated subsidy basednphe participant’s income. Implicit in that rights-creating
language is that the local housing authoritystrfallow proper procedures and methods in
verifying the participant’s income.

Prior to analyzing the particad verification procedures msue in Count IV (as well as
Count V1), it is important to place the verific@n procedures in their proper context. The
Introduction to Chapter 7 of the Adminidixee Plan—titled Vefication—unequivocally
provided that “[tjhe PHAnust verify all information that is used to establish the family’s
eligibility and level of assistance andregjuired to obtain the family’s consent to collect the
information. . . . The PHAnust not pass on the cost of verificatiom the family.” Pl.’s Ex. 36
(emphasis added). These provisions were camgisvith HUD regulations, which provided that
the PHA “must obtain and document in the tendatthfird party verification” of the family’s
annual income, expenses relatedéeouctions, and other factors tlaffiect the determination of
adjusted income. 24 C.F.R. § 982.516(a)(2). Blaremphasizes, and the Court agrees, that the
Plan imposed on Defendants an affirmativigattion to verify the information used in
calculating her monthly assistance payments.

As a general matter, Defendants allege Dreatiels failed to meet her own obligations
insofar as she repeatedly failed to supply complete information in a timely fashion and then
complained about Defendants’ determinationsr aiteertification or @examination. The Court

need not determine whether Daniels faileddmply with her obligations under pertinent
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regulations and the AdministraéiwPlan. However, in determining whether Defendants can be
held liable for noncompliance with verificationgeedures, the Court must remain cognizant that
Daniels had a concurrent respoiigipto supply information tht was accurate, complete, and
relevant to the calculation 6er monthly assistance paymengee, e.qg.Defs.’ Ex. 6, § 15-
VII.H. (“ The family must supply information to the PHA or HUD as specified by 24 C.F.R.
8§ 982.551(b).”) (emphasis added); 24 C.F.R. § 982.551(b)(Refamily must supply any
information required by the PHA or HUD for usea regularly scheduled reexamination or
interim reexamination . . . .”) (emphasis addéd)§ 982.551(b)(4) (“Any informatiosupplied
by the family must be true and complete.”) (empisaadded); DefsEx. 42, HUD Verification
Guidance at 7-38 (stating thatiR will contact sources “identifietly the family”) (emphasis
added); Pl.’s Ex. 36, § 7-1.A. The family must supply any information that the PHA or HUD
determines is necessary to the administraticihe program . . . .”) (emphasis added).
Furthermore, many of Plaintiff's allegationsncern Defendants’ atied failure to seek
third party verification, which iprioritized over the review of family documents in the HUD
verification hierarchy and Administrative RlaPl.’s Ex. 37 § 7-1.B.; Defs.” Ex. 42, HUD
Verification Guidance at 7-37—-7-38.he Court is cognizant thatthough HUD regulations and
the Plan generally imposed an affirmatoldigation on Defendants to seek third party
verification and rely on the highest form of feation, the Plan also granted Defendants some
discretion to determine whether suchifieation was required or availabl&ee, e.g.Pl.’s EX.
37, 8 7-1.B (“HUD requires the PHA to use the most reliable form of verifictiatis
available. . ..”) (emphasis added); Defs.” Ex. 25, 8§ 7-1.E. (“If B¥¢A has determined that
third-party verifications not available or not required, the PHAwill use documents provided

by the family as verification.”) (emphasis addedherefore, in light ofll these provisions,
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Defendants’ actions must be assessed in tigtiie quality of the information supplied by
Daniels and whether verifitan was available or requileunder the circumstances.

Focusing on Defendants’ liability on Count,IFlaintiff first conends that Defendants
did not properly verify Akes’s self-employment income. The HUD Verification Guidance
provided that “[tlhe PHA mails diaxes a verification form dirélg to sources identified by the
family to obtain income information,” or thgtjhe PHA may call the source to obtain income
information.” Defs.” Ex. 42 at 7-38. Plaifftargues that Defendants could have and should
have contacted the sources of Akers’s megursuant to the HUD verification hierarchy,
particularly given that Akers consentedhe release of information to HAPGGeePl.’s Ex.
10.

The problem with Plaintiff's argument is thiere was no materidispute with respect
to Akers’sgross incomgand therefore, verification of thetformation was not required under
the circumstances. Indeed, the 2009 tax reaach2010 LTS projectiomdicated that Akers’s
gross income was largely unchanged between 2009 and 2@tfpareDefs.” Ex. 9 at 929
($37,986 for 2009vith Pl.’s Ex. 8 ($35,592 projected f2010). Accordigly, there was no
need for Floyd to contact the sources of Akers’s income to verify his gross iActhre.
primary discrepancy between the 2009 reurd the 2010 projection was based upon Akers’s
business expensasad the resulting net income (or adjusted gross inco@anpareDefs.’ Ex.
9 at 922 ($20,365 adjusted gross income for 200@)P1.’s Ex. 8 ($9,492 projected net income
for 2010). It appears to the Court that the andividuals with knowlege of Akers’s purported
business expenses were Akers and Daniels, &nd i no indication frorthe record that they

identified additional sources of information relating to his business expenses. In this case, it was

2 Furthermore, the factual record inistitase does not support a conclusia #kers even iddified these sources
of income to Defendants. HAPGC only would have been required to contact such dwmtraes tidentified by the
family.” Defs.” Ex. 42, HUD Verification Guidance at 7-38.
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reasonable for Floyd to concluttet third-party verification ofkers’s gross income was not
required and that third party vBcation of his business expenseas not available, particularly
given the questionable quality, accuracy, andvegiee of the information provided by Daniels
and her attorney. Accordingly, Defendardstermination was not inconsistent with HUD
regulations or Plan provisiona@was not arbitrary or capricious.

In her post-trial brief, Plaintiff cites Seati 7-111.B. of the Plan, which also concerns
verification of self-enployment income SeeDoc. No. 54 at 13. She argues that Defendants
violated the requirement that “[tjhe PHA will provide a format for any person who is unable to
provide such a statement to record incomeexmEnses for the coming year.” Pl.’s Ex. 39.
However, Akers, Daniels, and her attorney piiovide statements and documentation regarding
income and expenses for the coming year; Floyd siaglgrmined that they were not as reliable
as the 2009 tax return. Floyd’s conclusion thdebdants did not have to provide a format to
Akers was reasonable under these circumstances, and not inconsistent with Section 7-111.B.
Furthermore, Plaintiff has not demonstrated tiars’s receipt of a format from Defendants
would have had any impact on the calculatbher subsidy given that the 2009 tax return
constituted a higher level of veghtion than self-certification.

Plaintiff also emphasizes mandatory languigihe HUD Verification Guidance which
stated that “[w]hen third party véidation is not awilable, the PHAshould always request a
notarized tenant declaration thatludes a perjury statement.” Defs. Ex. 42 at 7-38 (emphasis
added). Floyd testified that slgite third party verification bieg unavailable, she did not request
such a declaration from Daniels or Akers withpect to his self-employment income. However,
even if Floyd had obtained a tenant declaratio@,2009 tax return woulstill have constituted a

higher level of verification, and under the HUD Verification Guidance and Administrative Plan,
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Defendants would have been required to oglythe tax return over the tenant declaration.
Indeed, the HUD Verification Guidar provided that self-certifidah was to be used only as a
last resort. While Defendants’ snhave technically failed to aaply with this portion of the
HUD Verification GuidanceRlaintiff has not established th&e calculation of her subsidy was
affected or impacted by thisstance of noncompliance. flnese circumstances, Defendants
cannot be held liable under § 1983 for tHailure to requestelf-certification.

To summarize, the Court concludes thatddeants’ use of Akers’s 2009 income tax
return was not inconsistent with HUD regulatianghe Administrative Plan. Furthermore,
Defendants’ actions with respect to calculatmal verification were narbitrary or capricious,
as they were rooted in the requirementthefgoverning regulatiorend Plan provisions.
Accordingly, Defendants’ determinations mustab®rded deference, and the Court finds in
Defendants’ favor on Count IV.

b. Count V: Inclusion of Akers’s Income in December 2010 Subsidy

In Count V, Plaintiff claims that Defendantslilure to exclude A&rs’s income from the
calculation of her December 2010 housing subsidyidegher of her federal right to a proper
calculated subsidy. As a preliminary matt@cause household composition is an integral
component of calculating Section 8 participant’s subsidyetourt holds that Daniels has an
enforceable interest in the HUD regutatts and Plan provisions governing household
composition. The Court concludes, however, befendants’ actions weret inconsistent with
pertinent regulations and Plan provisi@amsl were not arbitrary or capricious.

On November 30, 2010, Park e-mailed Floyd atached affidavits stating that Akers
had left the householdseePl.’s Ex. 22. Three days later, Floyd responded to this e-mail by

informing Daniels that the affidavits were not sufficient and that Defendants could not process
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her request for a change in household compodiemause they needed legal proof of Akers’s
new residence—i.e., new picture identificatiomtisity bill, banking statement, or change of
address card. Pl.’s Ex. 12. On December 15, 2010, Park submitted a copy of Akers’s new
identification card and change-of-address Idttan USPS, both of which evidenced his new
Washington, D.C. address. Pl.’s Ex. 13pon receipt of this information, Defendants
immediately effectuated the change in @dsis household composition beginning in January
2011. SeePl.’s Ex. 14. Floyd’s determination was notamsistent with Section 7-11.D. of the
Administrative Plan, whic provided the following:

If an adult family member who wasrfoerly a member of the household is

reported to be permanently absent,fimaily must provide evidence to support

that the person is no longer a member of the family @gumentation of

another address at which the person resides such asalease or utility bill). A

written statement from HOH and adult membty be required.

Defs.” Ex. 14 (emphasis added). It was reason@ablBefendants to reft the affidavits given
that the Plan favored other forms of documiateand merely provided that an affidavit (or
written statementinaybe required by the PHA.

Plaintiff emphasizes that Banotified Floyd in writing on November 18 that he would be
providing affidavitsseePl.’s Ex. 17, and that was Defendants’ obligation to inform Daniels
that the affidavits would not be accepted #rat other documentatiomould be required.
Plaintiff cites Section 11-11.D., which provided thfitjJased on the typef change reported, the
PHA will determine the documentation the family viié required to submit. That family must
submit any required information or documentthim 10 business days of receiving a request
from the PHA.” Defs.” Ex. 15. The Court awkwledges that Defendants’ communication with

Daniels could have been more effective. kamnore, Defendants cabihave provided Daniels

and her attorney with a copy oftidministrative Plan earlier thdhey did. However, there is
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no evidence that Floyd deceived Daniels or hieriagy, failed to answer specific questions
posed to her, or otherwise acted in an arhjtaarcapricious mannerf-urthermore, Section 11-
[I.D. cannot be read as imposing liability on theal housing authority for failing to correct any
potential mistaken assumptions a participant hmase with respect to viéication documents.
Such a reading contradicts Section 6-1.Btha&f Plan, which imposed the responsibility for
reporting changes in household compositon the head of the familyseePl.’s Ex. 42;See also
supraPart 111.A.3.a (listing provisions that placesponsibility on Section 8 participants to
supply information).

Plaintiff next submits thaDefendants should have acceptesl dfffidavits because they
were sufficient documentation under the vertiima hierarchy of thé&dministrative Plan.
However, the verification hierarchy cited Blaintiff concerned verification of income
information, not changes in household compositiFloyd relied on the language of Section 7-
I1.D., which specifically addressed verificatiohchanges in household composition and favored
documents evidencing change of residency offifaaits. Defendants’ interpretation of the
relevant Plan provisions was reasonabhe, the Court will not substitute a different
interpretation.See Ritter33 F.3d at 328.

Accordingly, the Court holds that Defemdsi exclusion of Akers from the household
effective January 2011, rather than December 20&8,not inconsistent with HUD regulations
or the Administrative Plan, and Defendarastions were not artsary or capricious.

Defendants’ determinations are entitledi&derence, and the Court therefore finds in

Defendants’ favor on Count V.

34



C. Count VI: Calculation of Medical Expenses

In Count VI, Plaintiff claims that Defendamtailure to account for all her medical
expenses deprived her of her federal right pocgoer calculated subsidy. The Court holds that
Plaintiff has the right to enforce the HUDgtdations and Administrative Plan provisions
concerning the calculation of heredical expenses. Such reguwas and provisions are directly
tied to her asserted federal righd properly calculated monthly assince payment. And for the
same reasons discussed with respect to CoymRIamtiff also has a right to enforce those HUD
regulations and Plan provisiotigat directly impacted thealculation of her subsidy.

Plaintiff's primary complaint with Defendantsalculations of her medical expenses is
that they used a backward-looking approachoanting only for past medical expenses, and
failed to anticipate, account for and verify expertbas Daniels was likely to incur to the future.
As part of determining a participant’'s monthly assistance payment, Section 6-11.A. of the
Administrative Plan outlined the nietdology for calculating medical expenses:

Generally, the PHA will use current circumstances to anticipate expenses. When

possible, for costs that are expectefluctuate during the year (e.g., child care

during school and non-school periods agdlical medical expenses), the PHA

will estimate costs based on historic data and known future costs. If the family

has an accumulated debt for medical . . . expenses, the PHA will include as an

eligible expense the porti@f the debt that the family expects to pay during the

period for which the income determtiman is being made. However, amounts

previously deducted will not be allowesten if the amounts were not paid as

expected in a preceding period. ThéAPmay require the family to provide

documentation of payments made in the preceding year.
Pl.’s Ex. 43.

The procedures applicable to verifying income, discusapdaPart 111.A.3.a, also
applied to the verification of other familgformation, including medical expenseSeePl.’s Ex.

37 88 7-1.B, 7-1.E, 7-1.F. With respect to dieal expenses in paular, Section 7-1V.B.

provided:

35



The PHA may provide a form directty the medical provider requesting the
needed information.

Medical expenses wibhe verified through:

Verification form signed by #h provider, when possible

Copies of cancelled checks used to make medical expense payments

and/or printouts of receipts from theusce will be usedIn this case the

PHA will make a best effort to determine what expenses from the past are

likely to continue to occur in thfuture. The PHA will also accept

evidence of monthly payments otabpayments that will be due for

medical expenses during the upcoming 12 months.
Defs.” Ex. 28. Defendants were also requiredenfy that the costs to be deducted were
qualified medical expenses and that the costsried in past years were counted only orde.

For Plaintiff's annual recertification iAugust 2011, Defendants accounted for paid
medical expenses for services by Dr. Cot&22v(Q) as well as the remaining $100 balance on the
same account, as reflected by documents Daniels submitted on April 27,S$¥21.’s EX. 16;
see alsdl.’s Ex. 44 at 1097. However, Defendant$ wot give Daniels adtional credit for the
remaining documents she submitted in April 2011, which included an Estimated Treatment Plan
from Dr. Cohen and Financial Options documents from Drs. Burk and Flinn.

Based on the information available at time of the annuaécertification, Floyd
reasonably determined that Delsis medical expenses werectigal; she therefore accounted
for historic data (the $270 in paid expensasd known future costs (the $100 balance) to
anticipate Daniels’s expenses for the coming y&aePl.’s Ex. 43, § 6-1.A. However, it was
not clear from the Estimated Treatment Plan Dextiels would be incuimg additional expenses

from Dr. Cohen throughout the yedd. It was similarly not apparent from the face of the

Financial Options document that Daniels wouldrimeirring future medical expenses from Drs.
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Burk and Flinr® Aside from the Cohen statement, Dasiglipplied no evidence of historic data
or known future costs in Aprid011. Therefore, the Court cannot conclude that Defendants’
determinations, which were made effeet&ugust 2011, were inconsistent with the
Administrative Plan.

Plaintiff also asserts that Bandants failed to comply wittineir obligations to obtain
third-party verification of Daniels’s medical expenses after she submitted documents in April
2011. Section 7-1V.B. of the Plan, which spedaifig addressed verification of medical expense
deductions, began by stay that “[the PHAmMay provide a form directly to the medical provider
requesting th@eeded information.” Defs.” Ex. 28 (emphasadded). First, this language is
permissive in its terms, and the Court cannot katecthat liability autmatically lies against
Defendants based on their decision not to contact Daniels’s medical psovigkertainly, it also
would have been a reasonable interpretatiddeation 7-1V.B. for Defendants to seek third-
party verification, but the Court Whot substitute such an infgetation where the Defendants’
action was reasonable and not comytta the governing provisionsSecond, a reasonable person
in Floyd’s position would not necessarily haesiewed the Estimated Treatment Plan and
Financial Options documents and inferred ®laintiff had undertaken any obligation to pay
future medical expenses. Acdmgly, after accounting for the historic data and known future
expenses, there was no additional, relevant information that Defeméaclsdor verification
purposes. Furthermore, Daniels had an obligatigrovide complete and relevant information
to the housing authority prior teer annual recertification, and Defendants reasonably relied on

the information she submitted and determined that no further verification was required. In light

3 Daniels also provided a letter from Dr. Mehta dated May 4, 2011, which described her medical condition and
stated that she was currently receiving treatm8e€Pl.’s Ex. 15. It is not clear from the record when this
document was provided to Defendants. Regardlessttashe Estimated Treatment Plan and Financial Options
documents, the Mehta letter did not clearly indicate that Daniels had undertaken an obligatiofutare medical
expenses.
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of these circumstances, Defendants’ actiarthe August 2011 reciication were not
inconsistent with pertinent regulations or Pfaavisions, and were natbitrary or capricious.

Weeks after her annual retitBecation, in October 2011, Daels and her attorney
provided Defendants with more extensive infatimn regarding her medical expenses. Park
informed Floyd via e-mail that Daniels was intng ongoing expenses for treatment with Dr.
Cohen as well as ongoing financial obligationthwZare Credit based on treatment by Drs. Burk
and Flinn.SeePl.’s Exs. 23-24.

The Court will first assess Defendants’ determinations regarding the Care Credit
documentation. Floyd gave Daniels credéffective November 2011—for $845 in past
payments made on her Care Credit acco&eePl.’s Ex. 44 at 1088. Dendants declined to
give Daniels credit for the remaining balancenen Care Credit statement, however. Plaintiff
contends that Defendants’ refusal to give @&ncredit for her accumulated medical debt was
inconsistent with Section 6-A. of the Administrative Plan. The Court disagrees. Floyd

testified that Defendants were aware that @xedit was used exclugly for medical purposes,

* Although Plaintiff claims that her subsidy should hinaeased effective May 20]14he has not demonstrated,
through citations to relevant Plan provisions, HUD regulations, or otherwise, that she was entitled to an immediate
adjustment effective May 201 Plaintiff has also failed to demonstrate that it was improper for Defendants to make
the adjustment effective in August 2011, the date ofhaual recertification. HD regulations mandated annual
reexaminations by the local housing authority. 24 C.F.R. 8 982.516(a). However, with respect to interim
reexaminations, the relevant regulation contained permissive language and granted broad disitretiocat

housing authority:

(b) When PHA conductsiterim reexamination.

(1) At any time, the PHAnay conduct an interim reexamination of family income and
composition.

(2) At any time, the family may request an interim determination of family income or
composition because of any changes since the last determination. The PHA must make
the interim determinatiowithin a reasonable time after the family request.

Id. 8 982.516(b)(1)-(2) (emphasis added). In this case, Daniels has not demonstrated that sk aegoestim
reexamination when she submitteddical documentation in April 2011Even if she did request such a
reexamination, Plaintiff did not argaed the Court cannot conclude ttte reexamination, which occurred in
August, followed an unreasonable delay.
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but it was not clear from the face of the documents provided by Park that the remaining balance
was based oallowabledeductions. For example, the Ca&redit statement contained interest
charges, which are not deductible medical expemsdsr the terms of the Plan. The User Guide
provided by Daniels’s attorney alstated that the Care Creditdaould be used for any family
member (including those not in the househakl)vell as pets. Pl.’s Ex. 24 at 1547. Such
medical expenses would not be deductible urti¢ld regulations or the Adinistrative Plan.
Accordingly, based on the Care Credit stagamFloyd could not accurately project what
Daniels’s properly deductible futermedical expenses were gotogoe. As with the Estimated
Treatment Plan and Financial Options docutmeaceived in April 2011, Floyd only had clear
evidence of cyclical medical expenses, and sbpeasty accounted for Daglis’s historic costs by
crediting her with an additional $845 in medieapenses, in addition to the $370 for which she
had already received crediteePl.’s Ex. 44 at 1088 (total rd&al expenses of $1,215 effective
November 2011). Accordingly, Defendants’ detgration with respect to the Care Credit
documents was not inconsistent with the Plan and was notayltr capricious.

Likewise, Defendants did not ambntrary to the Plan’s vdigation provisions. It again
bears emphasis that Section 7-1V.B was permisaiits terms, and liability does not lie simply
because Defendants chose not to contact Daniels’s medical providers. Furthermore, it was
Plaintiff's obligation to provideeomplete, accurate, and relevant information, and Defendants’
actions with respect to verification must be ased in light of the quality of the information
available to them at the time they determilethiels’s subsidy. Based on the information
submitted, Floyd could not make the determination that Daniels had incurred dieduetible
medical expenses. Accordingly,anhistoric costs we accounted for, it was reasonable for

Defendants to conclude that fusther verification was necessamy required. Furthermore,
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Section 7-1V.B required that medical expessnay be verified through medical expense
payments and/or receipts, and that in such @, ¢he PHA will make a best effort to determine
which past expenses are liketycontinue in the future. Defs.” Ex. 28. Floyd carefully
examined the documents submitted as well as Plaintiff's representations (through Park) that she
was incurring ongoing expenses, and determined that Plaintiff had failed to demonstrate that she
would be incurring ongoingleductiblemedical expenses. The Court cannot conclude that
Floyd’s verification effort was inconsistent withe Plan’s mandate, noan it conclude that
Defendants acted in an arlairy or capricious manner.

The Court reaches a different conclusion regarding the remaining documents submitted in
October 2011, which reflected past paymentrtaCohen as well as an outstanding balance.
Floyd testified that she had already given creatipaid expenses to Dr. Cohen when Daniels
provided documentation in April 2011. However, a review of the pertinent documents reveals
that Defendants did not give Dieals credit for all her incurreelxpenses. Park’s October 19 e-
mail and the attached documents showedDaatiels had paid Cohen $445 since March 2011,
including a $50 payment on June 9 and a $25 payment on Septen8esfl.’s Exs. 23-24.
Floyd had only given Daniels credit for $370 effective August 2011, and never accounted for the

additional $75 in payments. It was a clear \tiola of the Section 6-II.A of the Administrative

® Plaintiff also asserts in her pdsial memorandum that Defendants were required to make two unsuccessful
attempts to obtain third-party verification prior to relying on other docum&asDoc. No. 54 at 15. The portion
of the Administrative Plan cited by Plaintiff, page 7-6 in Section 7-1.D., was not presented asharaeiial.
However, this provision was attached to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judg®eeoc. No. 28-5 at 7-
6. The complete language of Section 7-1.D. provided fhdnless third-party verification isnot required.. . .,
HUD requires the PHA to make at least two unsucces@rhats to obtain third-party verification before using
another form of verification.”ld. (emphasis added). As discussegra Section 7-1.E. of the Plan provided that
“[i]f the PHA has determined that third-party verification is not available rat required, the PHAwill use
documents provided by the family as verification.” Defs.’ Ex. 25 (gomasis added). Given the circumstances, it
was not inconsistent with the Plan faefendants to conclude that additibwerification was not required and to
rely on the documentation provided by Daniels and her attorney.
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Plan, as well as HAPGC's practices and polid@spDefendants not to acant for this historic
data in calculating Daniels’s medieatpenses effective November 2011.

A hearing was held to address Daniels’al@nge to Defendants’ calculation of her
medical expenses on April 3, 2012. On April 2612, Defendants affirmed their decision with
respect to the determinatioosDaniels’s subsidy that weraade effective August 2011 and
November 2011. Defs.’ Ex. 41. However, ifccdating Daniels’s gbsidy effective May 2012,
Defendants finally accounted for the $75 in payta¢a Dr. Cohen dated June 9 and September
7,2011.1d. The notice of decision included tfa@lowing finding with respect to these
expenses:

It is the client’s responsibility to prade the PHA with the verification necessary

to determine the correct calculations. The new information that was presented at

the informal hearing on April 3, 2012 was not available at the time the

calculations were performed and therefoaenot be used to contest the accuracy

of those prior calculations. Further, no retroactive adjustments will be processed.

The PHA policy referring to this is locaté@dthe PHA Administative Plan, Page
11-12, 11-11.D. Processing and Interim Reexamination.

Although the level of deference afforded to a hearing officer isfisignt, the Court will
not defer to the hearing office findings of fact unless #y are supported by substantial
evidence.SeeClark, 85 F.3d at 151-52. In this cases tiearing officer’s findings not only
lacked substantial evidence, but they weead} erroneous. Documentation of the $75 in
payments to Dr. Cohen was clearly providedPlayk and available to Defendants in October
2011, not March or April 2012. Therefore, Defenidashould have adjusted Daniels’s subsidy
effective November 2011 to account for the $7paid expenses. Such an adjustment would
have been consistent with Section 11-11.D. & A&dministrative Plan, wbh provides that if the

family’s share of housing payments is to decrease as a result of reexamination, “[tjhe decrease
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will be effective on the first day of the month following the month in which the change was
reported and all required documentation wassitted.” Defs.” Ex. 15. Accordingly,
Defendants are liable on Count fér failing to give Daniels credfor $75 in medical expenses
from November 2011 through April 2012.

Daniels’s attorney also submitted docunagion in October 2011 demonstrating that she
had a $91 balance with Dr. Cohen, and as wighptiist payments of $75, Defendants are liable
for failing to give Daniels credit for this balee. Park’s October 19 e-mail and the attached
statements from Dr. Cohen unequivocally ideedfthis balance, and the document clearly
reflected an ongoing obligation toypdeductible medical expenseSeePl.’s Exs. 23-24.

Effective August 2011, Floyd gave Daniels crddita similar outstanding balance of $1(®ee

suprg Pl.’s Ex. 16. It was therefore HAPGC'sagtice and policy to give credit based on
documents which clearly demonstrated an outstanding balance for deductible medical expenses.
Such a balance constituted a known future watstin the meaning of Section 6-11.A.

Defendants’ liability must be limited, however, to the six-month period from November 2011
through April 2012, because effective May 2012fdddants began crediting Daniels with an
additional $100 based on payments to Doh€h on March 12, 2012 and April 2, 2012. Defs.’

Ex. 41. Pursuant to Section 7-1V.B., past medicats could only be counted once, so Daniels
cannot be given credit foret$91 balance beyond April 2013eeDefs.’ Ex. 28.

The Court therefore concludes that Defendants are liable on Count VI for failing to
properly give Daniels credit for $166 in medieapenses for the six months between November

2011 and April 2012. Based upon the statutory formula, the Court concludes that Plaintiff
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should have received an addital $4.00/month for this periddPlaintiff is therefore entitled to
economic damages of $24.00.

Damages for emotional distress are corspble under 8 1983. However, such damages
are not presumed from every denial of a fatgght, “but must bgroven by competent,
sufficient evidence. Price v. City of Charlotte93 F.3d 1241, 1250 (4th Cir. 1996). “The
emotional distress . . . must find its gen@sithe actual violatiomot in any procedural
deficiencies that accompanied the violation,.because damages for \atibns of civil rights
are intended to compensate injuries caused by the . . . deprivatiofcitations omitted)

(internal quotation marks omitted). At trial, Piaif testified that she suffered stress, sleepless
nights, headaches, and general mental angeistiise Defendants did not provide her a proper
subsidy. Specifically, PlaintiBuffered anxiety because she did not have adequate money to
provide for her family and she had to ask familgmbers for financial assistance. Daniels also
testified that the denial of@oper subsidy caused stress on her family members and strained her
family relationships.

Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate by agwaderance of the evidentet she is entitled

to emotional distress damages based on Defesidailtires to account for all her medical

® The damages are based upon a review of Defendantsshemts reflecting Plaintiff’s subsidy calculations during
these monthsSeePl.’s Ex. 44 at 1088, 1628, 1630, 1636, and 1638. For example, effective February 1, 2012,
Defendants credited Daniels with $972 in medical deductithsat 1638. However, she should have been credited
with $1,138 in deductions ($972 + $166). Using the $1,138 amount, her ddjnsigal income was $6,070, and

30% of the adjusted income was $152/month. As a réaliftiff should have received a subsidy of $1,639, not
$1,635. The Court’s recalculations fsach month from November 2011 thgin April 2012 rsult in the same

$4.00 shortfall.

" Plaintiff's post-trial briefings claim that she is entitled to damages for subsidy miscalculations up to and including
the year 2013SeeDoc. No. 55 11 24, 31. Plaintiff failed to demonstrate at trial how Defendants miscalculated her
subsidy or how she suffered any damages beyond April 2012. For example, testimony was provided aed eviden
presented that in Daniels’s most recent certificationddstrember 15, 2012 and magléective January 2013, she
was credited with $530 in medical expensgsePl.’s Ex. 44 at 1608-11. However, Daniels’s medical deduction
was determined to be zero because thezeent of gross family income is not deductible, and that figure exceeded
Daniels’s medical expenseBlaintiff has presented no evidence tihiagctly challenged Defendants’ most recent
calculations of her medical expenses and resulting sub$iugrefore, Defendants’ liability and Plaintiff's damages
are limited to the period fromdvember 2011 through April 2012.
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expenses. As discussed abdvefendants deprived Danielsafederal right to a properly
calculated subsidy by failing to account for alf heedical expenses during a six-month period,
resulting in economic damages of $24.00.e Tourt cannot conclude based on Daniels’s
testimony that her emotional distress and agxiets caused by the deprivation in this case,
which was minimal compared to whDaniels was claiming at tri&l Although Defendants’
miscalculation resulted in a slight underpayier a six-month period, Defendants frequently
engaged in communications witlaniels and her attorney redang the calculation of her
medical expenses, recalculated her subsidy anteanm basis on multiple occasions, and did not
demonstrate any hostility toward Daniels. Rartmore, Plaintiff may not be compensated for
stress suffered by her family members, and batention that her family relationships suffered
is too speculative for the Court to award noneconomic damages.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court hol@dd Defendants violateBlaintiff's federal
right to a properly calculated heing subsidy when they failed to properly account for all her
medical expenses from November 201 btiyh April 2012. Plaintiff will enter judgment
against Defendants on Count VI aadard Plaintiff $24.00 in damages.

B. Damages based upon deprivation afgedural due process rights (Count I)

As discussed above, the Court already condymtr to trial thaDefendants violated
Plaintiff's Fourteenth Amendment due process rights by failing to hold a hearing so that she
could contest HAPGC's deternaitions with respect to Akers’s income and her household
composition. Plaintiffs Amended Complaint ajkd on all counts, including Count I, that
Daniels suffered economic hardship and emotiorstielis as a result sfruggling to meet her

homeownership expenses without firoper amount of her subsidgeeDoc. No. 24.

8 According to her Amended Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Plaintiff was claimingiecono
damages of $4,221.30 between May 2011 and March 2013 as a result of Defendants’ dilegeddgiroperly
calculate her medical deduction. Doc. No. 55 { 31.
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Plaintiff’'s damages claim on Count | appears limited to emotional distress damages, as
she presented no evidence or testimonyshatsuffered economic damages as a result of
Defendants’ failure to provide heith a hearing. As discusseldave in the Court’s analysis of
Count VI, Daniels testified that she suffestress, sleepless nighteadaches, and mental
anguish because Defendants allegedly failg@td@ide her with her correct subsidy amount.
“Damages under § 1983 are intended to compefsagetual injuries caused by constitutional
violations; therefore, a § 1983 plaintiff alleging emotional destnraust demonstrate that the
emotional duress resulted from the constitutional violation its&lhtissman v. Marylan®72
F.3d 625, 639 (4th Cir. 2001) (citir@@arey v. Piphus435 U.S. 247, 263 (1978)). “The plaintiff
must adduce sufficient evidence ‘that such distdessn fact occur and that its cause was the
constitutional deprivation itself and canria attributable to other causesKhussman272
F.3d at 63940 (quotingrice, 93 F.3d at 1250). Plaifftfailed to presenanytestimony or
evidence that she suffered emotional distress orahanguish as a diremsult of Defendants’
having denied her a hearing. The Court widlrdfore award Plaintif1.00 in nominal damages
based on Defendants’ violation loér due process rights.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court will enter judgment in favor of Defendants on
Counts IV and V. The Court widinter judgment in favor of PHaiff on Count VI and award her
$24.00 in damages. The Court will award nomdehages of $1.00 to Plaintiff on Count I. A
separate Order and Judgment follows.

April 17, 2013 /sl

Date Alexander Williams, Jr.
United States District Judge
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